RECEIVED

Mar 30 2021

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM DORCHESTER COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Diane S. Goodstein, Circuit Court Judge
Maite Murphy, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2020-000935

Portfolio Recovery Associates, LLC
Assignee of Synchrony Bank/HH Gregg

Respondent,

v.

Jennifer Campney

Appellant.

and

Jennifer Campney

Third-party Plaintiff

v.

Cooling & Winter, LLC

Third-party Defendant,

Of whom Jennifer Campney is the Appellant

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

John R. Cantrell, Jr.
Cantrell Legal, PC
108 Phillips Ct.
St. Matthews, SC 29135
(843) 797-2454
Attorney for Appellant

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. **DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR WHEN RULING THAT APPELLANT WAS LIABLE TO RESPONDENT IN THE AMOUNT OF \$4,236.78, PLUS COSTS, UNDER AN ACCOUNT STATED CAUSE OF ACTION?**
2. **DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR WHEN RULING THAT BOTH RESPONDENT AND THIRD-PARTY DEFENDANT WERE NOT LIABLE TO APPELLANT ON APPELLANT'S COUNTERCLAIMS?**
3. **DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN DENYING APPELLANT'S RULE 52 AND RULE 59(E) MOTION?**

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal from two circuit court orders, one ruling against Appellant both on Respondent's debt collection Complaint and on Appellant's consumer protection claims against both Respondent and Third-party Defendant, and one denying Appellant's Rule 52 and 59(e), SCRCF Motion. Appellant is a consumer whom Respondent, a debt buyer, claims is indebted to it for a defaulted consumer credit card debt. Third-party Defendant is the debt collection law firm that pursued the collection action on behalf of Respondent. Novel issues that will be raised in this appeal include (1) whether or not a business is allowed to allege an account stated cause of action when suing to collect a consumer debt, and (2) whether or not the South Carolina Consumer Protection Code regulates the collection of consumer credit card accounts in this state.

Respondent filed a debt collection Complaint against Appellant in Dorchester County magistrate court on January 4, 2017 seeking to collect \$4,236.78, plus costs, from Appellant with its sole cause of action being Account Stated (R. pp. 84-103). (Also attached to this Complaint was an Affidavit and Itemization of Account, which was signed by Mr. Joseph E. Brown, Respondent's attorney in the lower courts, but the ruling of the trial court on this issue is not

being appealed, so this document is not relevant to this appeal.) After the Appellant's Answer to the Complaint was amended and filed with the magistrate court on March 13, 2018 (R. pp. 105-115), which Amended Answer alleged claims against Respondent and Third-party Defendant in an amount in excess of the jurisdictional limit of the magistrate court, the case was transferred to Dorchester County Common Pleas. After the parties had engaged in discovery, Appellant filed a Motion to Compel Discovery Responses ("MTC") on May 28, 2019, which was heard by Judge Maite Murphy on July 30, 2019, and an order entered on September 19, 2019 denying that motion. Although Appellant originally included this order in the Notice of Appeal as one of the orders being appealed, Appellant now abandons this part of his appeal in regards to that discovery order. In the lower courts, both parties filed either motions to dismiss or motions for summary judgment, none of which were granted, except for a summary judgment order in favor of Respondent issued by the magistrate court (R. pp. 6-8), which was reversed on appeal to circuit court prior to the time that the case was transferred to circuit court (R. pp. 1-5). Just prior to trial, Appellant filed a summary judgment motion on October 12, 2019, attempting to resolve some of the pending legal issues before trial (R. pp. 22-35). Appellant also filed a motion in limine as one of his pretrial motions for the same purpose on October 20, 2019 (R. pp. 36-45). Both of these motions were orally denied by the trial judge on October 22, 2019 (R. p. 129, ll. 14-16).

On October 23, 2019, the case was tried as a one day bench trial before Judge Diane S. Goodstein. The Respondent called Larry Andrews, an employee, as its witness. Appellant called Jennifer Campney, her husband Benjamin Campney, and Joseph E. Brown as witnesses. Respondent claimed that Appellant owed them \$4,236.78 on a defaulted credit card debt that

they allegedly purchased from Synchrony Bank and alleged as their sole cause of action Account Stated. Appellant objected to all of their proffered evidentiary exhibits that were offered by their witness to establish the debt, which were admitted by the trial judge over objection (R. p. 117). In her Amended Answer, Appellant raised counterclaims against Respondent and claims against Third-party Defendant for violation of the South Carolina Consumer Protection Code (“SCCPC”), the federal Fair Debt Collection Practices Act (“FDCPA”), the South Carolina Unfair Trade Practices Act (“SCUTPA”), and negligence per se (R. pp. 105-115). Most of Appellant's evidentiary exhibits were admitted without objection, except for the ones noted in the argument section below (R. p. 117). At the conclusion of trial, the trial judge asked the parties to prepare competing proposed orders, and the court entered judgment against Appellant on December 11, 2019, both as to Respondent's debt collection Complaint and as to Appellant's counterclaims (R. pp. 11-21). A timely motion under Rule 52, SCRCP to request additional findings of fact and conclusions of law and also under Rule 59(e), SCRCP to alter or amend the bench trial order was filed by Appellant on December 23, 2019 (R. pp. 78-83). The trial court issued its order denying those post-trial motions on May 26, 2020 (R. pp. 76-77). A timely Notice of Appeal of that order was filed with this court on June 25, 2020.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

Respondent's claim in this case for an amount owed on an account stated is a question of law, as it is a type of contract action. *Anderson Memorial Hospital, Inc. v. Hagen*, 443 S.E.2d 399 (Ct. App. 1994). Appellant's claims for violation of the FDCPA, the SCCPC, the SCUTPA, and negligence per se are also questions of law. “An appellate court may decide questions of law with no particular deference to the trial court.” *Verenes v. Alvanos*, 387 S.C. 11, 15, 690 SE 2d

771 (2010) (citation omitted). “The trial judge's findings of fact will not be disturbed upon appeal unless found to be without evidence which reasonably supports the judge's findings.” *Electro Lab of Aiken v. Sharp Const.*, 357 S.C. 363, 367, 593 SE 2d 170 (Ct. App. 2004) (citation omitted). “The admissibility of evidence is within the sound discretion of the trial court and will not be reversed on appeal absent an abuse of discretion or the commission of legal error prejudicing the defendant. “ *Wright v. Craft*, 372 S.C. 1, 33, 640 S.E.2d 486 (Ct. App. 2006) (citations omitted). “An abuse of discretion occurs when the trial court's ruling is based on an error of law or, when grounded in factual conclusions, is without evidentiary support.” *Clark v. Cantrell*, 339 S.C. 369, 389, 529 SE 2d 528 (2000) (citation omitted).

ARGUMENTS

1. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED WHEN RULING THAT APPELLANT WAS LIABLE TO RESPONDENT IN THE AMOUNT OF \$4,236.78, PLUS COSTS, UNDER AN ACCOUNT STATED CAUSE OF ACTION

A. THE ACCOUNT STATED CAUSE OF ACTION IS INAPPLICABLE TO THE COLLECTION OF CONSUMER CREDIT CARD DEBT

The sole cause of action alleged by Respondent in its Complaint is an Account Stated cause of action (R. p. 85). As was argued to the court in Appellant's Motion for Summary Judgment filed October 12, 2019 (“Appellant's MSJ”) (R. p. 22-35), which is hereby incorporated by reference, and denied by the trial judge orally on October 22, 2019 just prior to the bench trial the next day, an account stated cause of action does not apply to the collection of consumer debt. As is more fully explained on pages 5-6 of Appellant's MSJ (R. pp. 26-27), account stated is a very old cause of action. The seminal case in South Carolina was *Wakefield v. Spoon*, 100 S.C. 100, 84 S.E. 418 (1915). Originally, an account stated could only be created between merchants, not between a merchant and a consumer (R. pp. 26-27), and although some

other states have expanded the cause of action to cover debt collection actions between a merchant and a consumer, our state Supreme Court declined to do so when given the opportunity to expand it. *Huggins v. Commercial & Sav. Bank*, 140 S.E. 177, 181-82 (1927). It should also be noted that the bank account involved in the *Huggins* case appears to have been a business bank account (*Huggins* at 178, 182), not a consumer bank account, yet our Supreme Court still did not expand the cause of action beyond suits between merchants on business debts.

As also noted in Appellant's MSJ at page 6, an account stated cause of action is inapplicable to this case since Respondent's Complaint alleges that the account stated arose between the "parties" (i.e. Respondent and Appellant), not between Appellant and Respondent's alleged predecessor in interest, who is not a party to this action (R. p. 27). In South Carolina, "[a]n account stated implies some previous transaction or indebtedness between the parties." *Meredith v. Fretwell*, 128 S.C. 267, 122 S.E. 767, 767 (1924), but it is undisputed that Respondent, who is a debt buyer, never had any prior financial dealings on this account with Appellant, prior to Respondent's alleged purchase of this credit card debt. Although Respondent now argues that an account stated was created between Synchrony Bank and Appellant, and then assigned to Respondent, Respondent should be limited to the allegations of its Complaint, which has not been amended since it was originally filed. In its supplemental response to Appellant's first interrogatories, which was admitted into evidence at trial, Respondent admits that an account stated was not created between Respondent and Appellant. (Def. Ex. D-10, Interrogatory 19). Appellant attempted to prevent the introduction of any evidence regarding the existence of an account stated created between non-party Synchrony Bank and Appellant, but Appellant's Motion in Limine was denied by the trial court. (R. p. 38, pp. 124-125, p.129 ll. 14-16).

B. EVEN IF THE ACCOUNT STATED CAUSE OF ACTION APPLIES TO THIS CASE, RESPONDENT HAS FAILED TO PROVE ALL OF THE ELEMENTS OF THAT CAUSE OF ACTION

It is very rare for an account stated cause of action to be successful in South Carolina, as Appellant is only aware of one case where it was established, and that was a case involving two businessmen, and it was an express account stated. *Id.* In this case, Respondent has not proven an express account stated between the parties, so must be relying upon an implied account stated. The normal elements of an account stated, upon which the parties agree, require (1) that the account be actually stated (or presented) to the defendant, and (2) that the parties either expressly or impliedly agreed that it is a true statement and is due to be paid then or at some other specified time. *So. Welding Works, Inc. v. K & S Constr. Co.*, 286 S.C. 158, 164, 332 S.E.2d 102, 106 (Ct. App. 1985). In addition, the only case addressing the creation of an implied account stated that Appellant is aware of, only allows an implied account stated to be created between merchants after presentment of the account statement and no objection to it by the defendant after a substantial lapse of time, which our Supreme Court found to be 2-3 years. *Gwathmey v. Burgiss*, 88 S.E. 816, 817 (1916).

Lack of presentment

As to presentment of the account statement, Respondent offered no evidence at trial of any account statement that was presented by Respondent to Appellant. Respondent did introduce into evidence, over Appellant's objection, account statements allegedly created by Synchrony Bank (R. pp. 324-372), but Respondent's Complaint alleged only that the account stated was created between the parties (R. p. 85, ¶ 5), and Respondent should be limited to the allegations of

its Complaint. Even if the court were to consider the Synchrony Bank account statements to be sufficient to serve as the basis for the creation of an account stated between Synchrony Bank and Appellant, there is still insufficient evidence of presentment to satisfy that necessary element. Although Respondent attached numerous alleged account statements to its P-3 exhibit, the only one that is actually relevant (if the court finds that account statements from non-parties are relevant) is the one dated April 23, 2015 that was attached to the Complaint showing a \$4,236.78 balance due, since that is the amount Respondent claims is due under an account stated cause of action, and that is the only account statement produced by Respondent in that amount. At first, Respondent argued that the presence of Appellant's name and address on the account statements proved presentment of the statements, which argument the magistrate court agreed with when granting summary judgment to Respondent on the Complaint (R. p. 8). However, that magistrate decision was reversed and remanded after appeal to the circuit court, and the circuit court found, correctly in Appellant's opinion, that showing that information on the account statement did not constitute proof of mailing or presentment. (R. p. 4). (The court also found that there was no proof of an express account stated agreement between the parties as well.) At trial, Respondent relied upon the testimony of its witness, Larry Andrews, to establish presentment of the account statements, which were admitted over Appellant's objections based on relevance, hearsay, lack of personal knowledge under Rule 602, SCRE, lack of authentication, doctrine of completeness, and an improper summary under Rule 1006, SCRE. (R. p. 157, l. 23 – p. 160 l. 3). The trial judge really only commented on the authentication objection when admitting this document into evidence (R. p. 159, l. 21 – p. 160, l. 2), and ignored the other grounds for objection. Appellant believes that all of these grounds for objection have merit, and

asks this court to find that at least one of them is sufficient to make it an abuse of discretion for the trial court to have admitted this exhibit into evidence. As to the trial court's ruling that the document was properly authenticated by Mr. Andrews, Appellant respectfully disagrees, and asks this court to examine that ruling more closely. Appellant believes that Mr. Andrews was not competent to authenticate these Synchrony Bank account statements. Consider his background and experience. He testified at trial as an employee and document custodian for Respondent (R. p. 133, ll. 3-5, p. 134, ll. 18-25) where he has worked for 17 years (R. p. 133, ll. 12-13). He never actually worked for Synchrony Bank, but worked for GE Capital for about 4 years, and GE Capital eventually became Synchrony Bank. (R. p. 133, ll. 16-25). He worked for GE Capital between 1993-1996, and this credit card account wasn't even created until 2012, so it was over 16 years after he left GE Capital, which became Synchrony Bank around 2014 after this account was created, that this credit card account began. Also, during the time he worked for GE Capital, his only job responsibilities were debt collection and skip tracing. (R. p. 166, l. 4 – p. 169, l. 1). He did claim that he attended trainings while at GE Capital on the workings of some other departments there, but that would not give him personal knowledge of those departments. That would only give him hearsay knowledge of their practice and procedures. Also, even if the court were to find that his second-hand knowledge of the workings of other departments at GE Capital was sufficient to allow him to authenticate GE Capital documents, it should be noted that the account statements that he was trying to introduce were created by Synchrony Bank, not GE Capital, and also were created 16 years after he had any personal knowledge, if any, of how those other departments (such as the billing department that would have created the account statements) worked (R. p. 169, ll. 18-24). Even if the court were to find that Mr. Andrews was

able to authenticate the account statements, Appellant still believes that his testimony was insufficient to prove that they were mailed to Appellant. Mr. Andrews claimed (even though he never worked in the billing department) that GE Capital was required by law to mail out the account statements, but that he has no personal knowledge that those statements, including the April 23, 2015 statement that Respondent relies upon to create an account stated, were actually mailed to Appellant (R. p. 190, l. 2 – p. 191, l. 11). So even if this court finds that he was competent to authenticate the account statement that Respondent relies upon to create the account stated, Respondent has no admissible evidence that the account statement was actually presented to Appellant. Appellant therefore asks that this court overrule the trial court's admission of exhibit P-3 into evidence, and find that the account stated cause of action fails for lack of proof of presentment.

Lack of Agreement

However, even if this court finds that the April 23, 2015 account statement was actually presented to Appellant, Appellant believes that there is no proof of an agreement (1) that this alleged account statement was an accurate statement of the account that existed between them, and (2) that the \$4,236.78 alleged due in the account statement was due to be paid either at the time of that agreement or at some other specified time, both of which are required to establish the second element of an account stated. Appellant incorporates by reference her arguments on this issue in Appellant's MSJ at pages 6-9 (R. pp. 27-30). As previously noted above, the circuit court in the magistrate court summary judgment appeal found that there was no proof of an express agreement between the parties (R. p. 4), so we must see if an implied agreement was created. The only method that has been recognized in South Carolina to create an implied

account stated agreement is between merchants after lack of objection to a presented account statement after 2-3 years. (*Gwathmey* at 817). That doesn't work for Respondent, both because Appellant is a consumer, and also because Respondent claims to have purchased this account on June 20, 2015 (R. p. 321) and then filed suit on it on January 4, 2017 (R. p. 85), which is less than 2-3 years. Even if you use the date of the April 23, 2015 statement, that time period is less than 2-3 years. Also, Respondent has never argued the creation of an implied agreement based on lapse of objection to the April 23, 2015 statement after 2-3 years. Instead, Respondent argues the creation of an implied account stated based on payment. This doesn't work either, since Appellant never made any payment to Respondent, and the last payment received on this account by Synchrony Bank was alleged to be October 15, 2014 (R. p. 154, l. 22 – p. 155, l. 1).

Therefore, there was no payment by Appellant after the April 23, 2015 account statement was allegedly created, even if it was presented, so there can be no implied agreement by payment. Furthermore, as can be seen by reference to Appellant's MSJ at pages 6-9 (R. pp. 27-30), there are at least two South Carolina appellate court cases that have found payments to have been made in account stated collection actions, but both of those cases found that no account stated agreement had been created, in spite of those payments. Appellant therefore believes that Respondent's theory that an account stated can be created by partial payment on an account, and the court's reliance on that theory in its ruling against Appellant (R. p. 12) is a mistake of law and should be reversed by this court. Note also that the law on account stated requires that there be an agreement between the parties about when the agreed balance due is to be paid, which either has to be at the time of the agreement (which didn't happen here in this credit card case) or at some other specified time. This is another reason why account stated theory doesn't work with

consumer credit card accounts, since consumers are never given any kind of amortization schedule from their credit card company to which they can impliedly agree to make payments according to that schedule, and in this case there is certainly nothing in the record that would support agreement to pay at a specified time. Appellant therefore believes that Respondent has failed, as a matter of law, to prove the creation of an account stated between the parties, and the trial court's ruling to the contrary should be reversed.

2. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED WHEN RULING THAT BOTH RESPONDENT AND THIRD-PARTY DEFENDANT WERE NOT LIABLE TO APPELLANT ON APPELLANT'S COUNTERCLAIMS

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