RECEIVED

Mar 26 2021

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals
Appellate Case No. 2020-000935

APPEAL FROM DORCHESTER COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Diane S. Goodstein, Circuit Court Judge, Dorchester County
Maite Murphy, Circuit Court Judge, Dorchester County

Case No. 2018-CP-18-00729

Portfolio Recovery Associates, LLC Assignee of Synchrony Bank/HH Gregg
Respondent,

v.

Jennifer Campney, Defendant

and

Jennifer Campney, Third-party Plaintiff,

v.

Cooling & Winter, LLC, Third-party Defendant, of whom Jennifer Campney is the Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

Caren D. Enloe, Esquire
P.O. Box 176010
Raleigh, NC 27619
(919) 250-2000

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

Here, Appellant mistakenly contends that PRA “has no admissible evidence that the account statement was actually presented to Appellant.” Appellant’s Br. p. 11. On the contrary, Appellant herself testified at Trial that she “believe[d]” that she had received “the billing statements from HH Gregg.” (R. p. 252, lines 8-10). She further admitted to making payments on the HH Gregg account and admitted that she had an HH Gregg credit card. (R. p. 252, lines 11-14). Appellant confirmed that her mailing address was 4976 Wescott Boulevard, Apartment 934, and that she had lived at that address “a little over seven years.” (R. p. 252, lines 1-3). Additionally, PRA’s witness, Mr. Andrews, testified that he was familiar with how credit card statements were generated and that the statements would normally be mailed “to the address on the statement[.]” (R. p. 161, lines 13-20). The address on every statement in Exhibit P-3, including the statement dated April 23, 2015, matches the address at which Appellant admitted to having lived for the past seven years, at which she received mail, and at which she “believe[d]” she had received the statements at issue (R. p. 252, lines 8-10). Thus, not only did Mr. Andrews’ testimony permit the

Court to draw the plausible inference that each of the statements in Exhibit P-3, including the statement dated April 23, 2015, were in fact mailed to Appellant, which Appellant did not dispute, Appellant herself admitted to receiving statements at her address. Accordingly, PRA met its burden of proving that Appellant received the statements in Exhibit P-3 from Synchrony and has accordingly satisfied the element of presentment.

3. PRA INTRODUCED SUFFICIENT EVIDENCE TO PROVE AN IMPLICIT AGREEMENT TO PAY

An agreement to pay a statement of account may be implied from the circumstances, “such as a promise to pay the stated balance; long retention of the account without question of the balance *and the like*.” *Gwathmey*, 104 S.C. at 282, 88 S.E. at 817 (emphasis added). While such implicit assent may arise where a merchant retains an account sent by another merchant without objection for two or three years, this is by no means the exclusive method of proving implicit assent. *Id.* at 282, 88 S.E. at 817 (citing *Pratt v. Weyman*, 6 S.C. Eq. (1 McCord Eq.) 156 (1825)). The *Gwathmey* Court’s use of the expansive term “and the like” makes clear that its recitation of circumstances which might rise to implicit assent was intended to be illustrative, not exhaustive.

Here, Appellant testified that she had an HH Gregg credit card, that she made payments on it, and that she “believe[d]” that she received the billing statements from HH Gregg, including the statements comprising Exhibit P-3 (R. p. 252, lines 8-10). The billing statements comprising Exhibit P-3 show that Appellant previously made payments on the account, with the last payment in the amount of \$81.00 being made on or about October 15, 2014 (R. p. 351). Further, the final statement, dated April 23, 2015 and upon which PRA based its account stated claim, shows that Appellant was required to remit a minimum payment of \$1,042.00 on or before May 16, 2015 (R. p. 324).

Appellant implicitly agreed that each statement was a correct statement of account, because she never disputed any portion of the balance with Synchrony Bank. Critically, each statement in Exhibit P-3 informed Appellant, on the reverse side, of how to dispute any asserted error on each statement, and further informed Appellant that she was required to submit any such dispute to Synchrony Bank “within 60 days after the error appeared on your statement.” (R. pp. 325, 329, 333, 339, 343, 347, 354, 358, 362, 366, 370). Appellant presented no evidence that she ever disputed any statement she received. The April 23, 2015 statement further informed Appellant that she was entitled to pay the entire outstanding balance at any time without incurring a prepayment penalty, and that failing to pay the minimum balance on or before May 16, 2015 would result in a late charge of up to \$38.00 being added to the account (R. p. 324).

Appellant, by her prior conduct in making purchases with, and payments on the account, together with her failure to dispute any amount on any of the statements, impliedly acknowledged that the statement dated April 23, 2015 was correct and that the statement balance was due and owing. Based upon the admissible and competent evidence presented, the Trial Court correctly concluded that Appellant impliedly acknowledged that she was indebted to PRA’s assignor in the amount of \$4,236.78.

II. THE TRIAL COURT CORRECTLY ENTERED JUDGMENT IN FAVOR OF PRA ON APPELLANT’S COUNTERCLAIMS

STANDARD OF REVIEW

“In an action at law, the trial court’s factual findings will not be disturbed upon appeal unless found to be without evidence which reasonably supports the trial court’s findings.” *Fesmire v. Digh*, 385 S.C. 296, 303, 683 S.E.2d 803, 807 (Ct. App. 2009) (citing *Townes Assocs., Ltd. v. City of Greenville*, 266 S.C. 81, 86, 221 S.E.2d 773, 775 (1976)). “Determining the proper interpretation of a statute is a question of law, and this court reviews questions of law de novo.”

Coastal Fed. Credit Union v. Brown, 417 S.C. 544, 548, 790 S.E.2d 417, 419 (Ct. App. 2016) (quoting *Town of Summerville v. City of N. Charleston*, 378 S.C. 107, 109, 662 S.E.2d 40, 41 (2008)). *Accord Citizens for Quality Rural Living, Inc. v. Greenville Cty. Planning Comm’n*, 426 S.C. 97, 102, 825 S.E.2d 721, 724 (Ct. App. 2019) (quoting *Lightner v. Hampton Hall Club, Inc.*, 419 S.C. 357, 363, 798 S.E.2d 555, 558 (2017)) (“An issue regarding statutory interpretation is a question of law.”).

A. THE TRIAL COURT CORRECTLY RULED THAT THE SCCPC DID NOT APPLY TO PRA’S COLLECTION OF THE CREDIT CARD ACCOUNT

As correctly concluded by the Trial Court, PRA was not required to send a notice of right to cure pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 37-5-110 because Appellant’s use of the HH Gregg credit card was not a “consumer credit transaction” and because PRA was not the credit grantor.

1. THE CREDIT CARD ACCOUNT IS NOT A CONSUMER CREDIT TRANSACTION WHICH REQUIRES A NOTICE OF RIGHT TO CURE

The SCCPC requires a creditor to provide a notice of right to cure only with respect to certain “secured or unsecured *consumer credit transactions*”—specifically, those “payable in two or more installments,” where the consumer has been in default for more than ten days and has not surrendered any collateral securing repayment of the loan. S.C. Code Ann. § 37-5-110(1) (emphasis added). A “consumer credit transaction,” in turn, is limited to a “consumer credit sale,” “consumer loan,” “consumer lease,” or “consumer rental-purchase agreement.” S.C. Code Ann. § 37-1-301(11).⁹ A “consumer credit sale” expressly *excludes* any sale “in which a seller allows the buyer to purchase goods or services pursuant to a lender credit card or similar arrangement” S.C. Code Ann. § 37-2-104(2)(a).

⁹ The remaining three transactions included within the definition of “consumer credit transaction” are inapplicable here.

Here, the Trial Court correctly concluded that Appellant’s HH Gregg credit card was a “lender credit card,” which excluded it from the definition of “consumer credit sale,” and, therefore, her use of the card was not a covered “consumer credit transaction.” (R. pp. 14-15). Appellant’s HH Gregg credit card falls squarely within the definition of a “lender credit card or similar arrangement” because it was an “open-end credit arrangement . . . pursuant to which a lender gives a debtor the privilege of using a credit card . . . in transactions out of which debt arises” and it was not a “seller credit card.” S.C. Code Ann. § 37-1-301(16). *See also* (R. pp. 325, 329, 333, 339, 343, 347, 354, 358, 362, 366, 370) (disclosing, on the reverse of each statement, that “[y]our account is owned and serviced by Synchrony Bank.”).

Similarly, the credit card was not a “seller credit card” because it was not issued by Synchrony Bank “primarily for the purpose of purchasing or leasing goods or services” from Synchrony Bank or any related entity. S.C. Code Ann. § 37-1-301 (26). *See also Bracken v. Simmons First Nat’l Bank*, No. 6:13-1377-TMC-KFM, 2014 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 78974, at *12–13 (D.S.C. May 6, 2014), *adopted in full*, 2014 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 78025, at*2 (D.S.C. June 9, 2014) (concluding that a consumer credit card is not subject to the SCCPC). Because the HH Gregg credit card was a “lender credit card or similar arrangement,” any purchase made with it was expressly excluded from the definition of a “consumer credit sale” unless such a sale was explicitly subject to the SCCPC by agreement. S.C. Code Ann. § 37-2-104(2)(a). Appellant presented no evidence of any such agreement. Consequently, each such purchase was not a “consumer credit transaction” because it did not fall within one of the four categories of covered transactions, and therefore no notice of right to cure was required under the SCCPC.¹⁰

2. ANY DUTY CREATED BY THE SCCPC WAS IMPOSED UPON THE

¹⁰ The Trial Court’s determination that PRA was not subject to the SCCPC rendered Appellant’s remaining claim under the SCCPC moot.

ORIGINAL CREDITOR, NOT ON PRA

Even if Appellant's use of the HH Gregg credit card constituted a "consumer credit transaction," such a designation imposed no duties upon PRA. Section 37-5-110(1) requires a *creditor* to send a notice of right to cure in the circumstances set forth therein. The Consumer Protection Code specifically defines "creditor" as "the person who grants credit in a credit transaction or, except as otherwise provided, an assignee of a creditor's right to payment, *but the use of the term does not in itself impose on an assignee any obligation of his assignor.*" S.C. Code Ann. § 37-1-301(13) (emphasis added). This definition makes two things perfectly clear: (1) the South Carolina legislature understood how to distinguish a creditor from an assignee, and how to draft a statute to ensure that any duty created thereunder applied to either a creditor and its assignee, or to a creditor only, as the legislature saw fit; and (2) even though the term "creditor" includes a creditor's assignee unless expressly stated otherwise, the inclusion of assignees within the definition of creditor does not, *without more*, impose any duty of a creditor on its assignee.

Section 37-5-110(1) contains no additional language to indicate that its imposition of a duty upon a "creditor" in certain circumstances also applies to an assignee. Therefore, no such duty applies to a creditor's assignee. It is undisputed that PRA is the assignee of Synchrony Bank, and not the "person who grant[ed] credit" to Appellant. S.C. Code Ann. § 37-1-301(13). Accordingly, even if Appellant's use of the HH Gregg credit card constituted a "consumer credit transaction" under section 37-5-110, any duty to provide a notice of right to cure fell solely upon Synchrony Bank, not upon PRA.

Because Appellant's use of the HH Gregg credit card was not a "consumer credit transaction," no duty arose under which Appellant was entitled to any notice of right to cure. Further, even if Appellant's use of the HH Gregg credit card entitled her to a notice of right to cure, the duty to provide such notice extended only to Synchrony Bank, the creditor who issued

the card, not to PRA, its assignee. Therefore, the Trial Court correctly entered judgment for PRA on Appellant's counterclaims under the South Carolina Consumer Protection Code, and that judgment should be affirmed.

B. THE TRIAL COURT CORRECTLY RULED THAT APPELLANT'S FDCPA CLAIMS WERE TIME-BARRED

The Trial Court correctly ruled that Appellant's FDCPA counterclaims were time-barred because they were not brought within one year from the date on which the alleged violations occurred (R. p. 13). Any action seeking to enforce liability created under the FDCPA must be brought "within one year from the date on which the violation occurs." 15 U.S.C. § 1692k(d). This statute of limitations "begins to run on the date on which the alleged FDCPA violation occurs, not the date on which the violation is discovered." *Rotkiske v. Klemm*, 140 S. Ct. 355, 358 (2019) (declining to construe 15 U.S.C. § 1692k(d) to include a "general discovery rule as a principle of statutory interpretation." *Id.* at 360).

Here, Appellant alleged that PRA's filing of the Complaint, and the affidavit attached thereto, violated the FDCPA (R. pp. 110-111, ¶¶ 26-36). The Complaint was filed on January 4, 2017 (R. p. 85). Appellant was served with the Complaint and summons on January 10, 2017. On February 8, 2017, Appellant filed her original answer (R. p. 104). The Counterclaim, however, was not filed until thirteen months later—on March 13, 2018, more than one year after Appellant was served with copies of the Complaint and affidavit she alleges violated the FDCPA and more than a year after Appellant's original Answer was filed (R. p. 105). Accordingly, the Trial Court correctly held that Appellant's FDCPA claims were time-barred.

Moreover, there is nothing in the FDCPA which provides Appellant with set off rights or the right to assert her time-barred FDCPA claim as an affirmative defense. *Compare* 15 U.S.C. § 1692k(d) *with* 15 U.S.C. § 1640(e) (expressly excepting from TILA's one year statute of

limitations any claim asserted “as a matter of defense by recoupment or set-off . . .”). Accordingly, the Trial Court correctly entered judgment for PRA on Appellant’s FDCPA claims because they were time-barred.¹¹

III. THE TRIAL COURT CORRECTLY DENIED APPELLANT’S RULE 59 MOTION STANDARD OF REVIEW

“The decision to grant or deny a motion for relief from judgment lies within the sound discretion of the trial court and will not be disturbed on appeal absent an abuse of discretion.” *Smith v. Fedor*, 422 S.C. 118, 124, 809 S.E.2d 612, 615 (Ct. App. 2017) (quoting *Stearns Bank Nat’l Ass’n v. Glenwood Falls, LP*, 373 S.C. 331, 336, 644 S.E.2d 793, 795 (Ct. App. 2007)). “An abuse of discretion arises where the judge issuing the order was controlled by an error of law or where the order is based on factual conclusions that are without evidentiary support.” *Id.* (citing *Glenwood Falls*, 373 S.C. at 336, 644 S.E.2d at 795).

Here, Appellant’s Rule 59 Motion does not cite any authority to support its arguments (R. pp. 78-83). Further, Appellant purported to reserve her right to file a memorandum of law in support of her Rule 59 Motion, but apparently elected not to do so (R. p. 79). Appellant argues that the Trial Court’s Rule 59 Order lacks a “discernable reason” and is therefore an abuse of discretion. Appellant’s Br. p. 15 (citing *Lollis v. Dutton*, 421 S.C. 467, 807 S.E.2d 723 (Ct. App. 2017)). However, reference to the Rule 59 Order itself belies Appellant’s argument. The Trial Court denied Appellant’s Rule 59 Motion because there was “no material issue raised by [Appellant] that has

¹¹ The Trial Court also correctly ruled that even if Appellant’s FDCPA claims were not time-barred, they nevertheless failed on the merits, because although two different balances were disclosed by PRA with respect to the credit card, both amounts were “‘correct’ amounts due, albeit under different legal theories.” (R. p. 16) (comparing charge off balance on Exhibit P-2 with balance on last account statement sent contained in Exhibit P-3, and explaining that the former was recoverable under a breach of contract theory, while the latter was recoverable under an account stated theory).

not been previously raised and decided and the arguments made are consistent with those ruled upon by the Court.” (R. p. 76). Thus, the Trial Court did not deny the Rule 59 Motion without a “discernable reason.” On the contrary, the Trial Court explained that each argument Appellant raised in her Rule 59 Motion had already been considered and ruled upon.

Finally, Appellant fails to set forth in detail any argument as to which specific errors the Trial Court allegedly committed in the Rule 59 Order, nor does she cite to any authority to support such arguments. Accordingly, this issue should be deemed abandoned on appeal. *See, e.g., Bennett v. Investors Title Ins. Co.*, 370 S.C. 578, 599, 635 S.E.2d 649, 660 (Ct. App. 2006). Moreover, Appellant’s attempt to incorporate documents into her brief by reference and directing this Court to refer to those documents for Appellant’s argument not only violates Rule 208(b)(1)(E) of the South Carolina Appellate Court Rules, but also has the effect of exceeding the page limits on briefs. *See* Rule 208(b)(5), SCACR. Therefore, this Court should consider Appellant’s arguments abandoned and should not consider arguments which are not set forth in the body of Appellant’s Brief.

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